FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/15/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

100655-1

NO. 55377-5-II

COURT OF APPEALS,

DIVISION II

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ALFREDO SUAREZ, APPELLANT

V,

MASCO CORPORATION, TOP BUILD, RESPONDENT

PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

By Steven L. Busick, WSBA #1643 Law Office of Steven L. Busick, PLLC PO Box 1385 Vancouver, WA 98666 Ph. (360)696-0228 Attorney for Appellant A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Alfredo Suarez, the appellant, asks the court to accept review of the

Court of Appeals' decision terminating review designated in Part B of this

Petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Alfredo Suarez had been a ten year employee of Gale Insulation, which had changed its name to Masco Corporation, installing insulation in homes and businesses. On June 27, 2012, Mr. Suarez suffered an industrial injury rolling a bundle of insulation into a home in Happy Valley, Oregon. Mr. Suarez injured his neck and his right shoulder, and had neck and right shoulder surgery. Mr. Suarez had gone to the second grade in school in Mexico, could read and write in Spanish, but could not read or write in English, and testified through a Spanish interpreter at hearing before an Industrial Appeals Judge at the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals on May 1, 2019. CP 2, Certified Appeal Board Record, pages 213-215.

On March 17, 2017, the Department of Labor and Industries suspended Mr. Suarez's time loss benefits for not attending a medical examination by an orthopedic surgeon selected by the employer's private claim administrator. CP 2, CABR, pages 179-180. At hearing before the Board, the issue was whether Mr. Suarez had good cause within the meaning of RCW 51.32.110 for not attending the medical examination.

CP 2, CABR, page 163. Mr. Suarez presented his case at hearing through exhibits that were admitted into evidence, and Masco called Mr. Suarez's attorney as an adverse witness to establish the initial reason why Mr. Suarez objected to the fourth medical evaluation being scheduled by Masco's private claim administrator. Mr. Suarez had previously been examined by Clarence Fossier, MD, an orthopedic surgeon, on November 15, 2013, John Thompson, MD, a neurosurgeon, on November 4, 2014, and Mr. Suarez was now being scheduled with a third orthopedic surgeon on May 16, 2015. CP 2, CABR, pages 221-228, and pages 234-344.

Mr. Suarez's attorney objected to the fourth medical evaluation being scheduled with Joseph Lynch, MD, on May 16, 2015, and Mr. Suarez did not attend. Employer's attorney wrote the Penalty Adjudicator at the Department of Labor and Industries a letter dated August 10, 2015, Exhibit No. 9, in response, stating that Dr. Rosenbaum declined to comment about the orthopedic-based shoulder condition, and that is why they needed an orthopedist like Dr. Lynch to address the shoulder as being part of the claim. Employer's attorney acknowledges in Exhibit No. 9 that the employer has filed an appeal to a Department order dated December 19, 2014, to pay time loss benefits from October 11, 2013, through December 10, 2014. Mr. Suarez's attorney responded, Exhibit No. 10, with a letter to the Penalty Adjudicator dated August 12, 2015, stating that the employer already has

two orthopedic surgeons scheduled to testify before the Board of Industrial

Insurance Appeals on Masco's appeal of the back time loss order, they do

not need a third to testify against Mr. Suarez, and the previous orthopedic

surgeon had just examined Mr. Suarez on November 4, 2014. CP 2, CABR,

pages 243-245.

Then on September 3, 2015, the Claim Adjudicator at the

Department issued an order assessing a no show fee for not attending the

medical evaluation with Dr. Lynch on May 16, 2015, in the sum of \$597.50,

which is Exhibit No. 11. Included is a letter of the same date to employer's

attorney, the Claim Adjudicator stated that the Department considers the

request for a suspension of time loss benefits to be withdrawn, because his

letter of June 8, 2015, does meet the criteria outlined in the Claim

Adjudicator Guidelines for non-cooperation. CP 2, CABR, pages 246-249.

As provided in RCW 51.52.050(2)(c), Mr. Suarez's attorney on

October 30, 2015, filed a protest and request for reconsideration to the Order

dated September 3, 2015, Exhibit No. 12, assessing a no show fee in the

sum of \$597.50 for not attending the medical evaluation on May 16, 2015.

The attorney identified the orthopedic surgeon who examined Mr. Suarez

on November 4, 2014, as John Thompson, MD, and stated that he had not

been advised of scheduling the medical evaluation with Dr. Thompson, and

PETITION FOR REVIEW TO SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

4

that Mr. Suarez had good cause not to attend the medical evaluation on May

16, 2015, with Dr. Lynch. CP 2, CABR, page 250.

On November 12, 2015, the Department affirmed the order dated

September 3, 2015, assessing the no show fee, Exhibit No. 13. In a letter

of the same date, the Department stated that the fact that Mr. Suarez

attended the medical evaluation with Dr. Thompson on November 4, 2014,

and Dr. Rosenbaum on January 5, 2015¹, did not establish good cause for

failing to attend the medical evaluation on May 16, 2015. Mr. Suarez

appealed the order dated November 12, 2015, to the Board and the appeal

proceeded to a full evidentiary hearing. The Industrial Appeals Judge

issued a Proposed Decision and Order dated August 18, 2016, finding that

Mr. Suarez did not otherwise have good cause for not attending the medical

evaluation on May 16, 2015, but that because Mr. Suarez provided timely

notice that he would not attend the scheduled examination, the self-insured

employer is estopped from assessing a no show fee. CP 2, CABR, pages

251-254, 257-299 and 338-343.

Then on March 17, 2017, the Claim Adjudicator at the Department

issued an order suspending Mr. Suarez's time loss benefits for failure to

submit to the medical evaluation May 16, 2015, with Dr. Lynch, pursuant

¹ The notice for the medical evaluation with Dr. Rosenbaum, Exhibit No. 17, the previous examiner, correctly states that the examination was on January 30, 2015, and not January

5, 2015. CP 2, CABR, pages 306-307.

PETITION FOR REVIEW TO SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

to RCW 51.32.110. CP 2, CABR, pages 179-180. Mr. Suarez through his attorney on March 23, 2015, appealed to the Board. The Industrial Appeals Judge issued his Proposed Decision and Order dated May 24, 2019, in which he relied on the testimony of Mr. Suarez's attorney called as an adverse witness without considering the balance of Exhibit Nos. 1 through 12. Specifically there is the letter to the Penalty Adjudicator at the Department dated August 12, 2015, Exhibit No. 10, stating that the employer already had two orthopedic surgeons scheduled to testify before the Board, and the protest letter dated October 30, 2015, Exhibit No. 12, to the order dated September 3, 2015. Mr. Suarez had already attended a medical evaluation with another orthopedic surgeon, John Thompson, MD, and Mr. Suarez's attorney had not been given notice of scheduling that medical evaluation as he had been the others, which was good cause not to attend the medical evaluation with Dr. Lynch. CP 2, CABR, pages 35-38, 245 and 250.

The Proposed Decision and Order decided that Mr. Suarez did not have good cause for failing to attend the examination with Dr. Lynch on May 16, 2015. In the Petition for Review to the Board filed on July 25, 2019, Mr. Suarez's attorney attempted to frame the issue in the context of the medical evaluation being scheduled with Dr. Lynch. The finding of not good cause was based on the testimony of Mr. Suarez's attorney, who was

called as an adverse witness by the employer's attorney without consideration of the exhibits admitted into evidence, which was the basis for Mr. Suarez's appeal to the Board. Mr. Suarez had attended the previous medical evaluations, two with orthopedic surgeons, and one with a

neurosurgeon. CP 2, CABR, pages 17-24 and 242.

On September 3, 2019, the Board adopted the Proposed Decision and Order without issuing their own Decision and Order and Mr. Suarez appealed to Superior Court. The case was set for trial before the Court without a jury, and on October 1, 2020, Mr. Suarez's attorney and Masco Corporation's attorney filed trial briefs, and the trial consisted of the two attorneys arguing their respective positions to the trial judge. In his trial brief, Mr. Suarez's attorney focused on Exhibit Nos. 8 and 10 that had not been considered by the Board. On October 22, 2020, the trial court filed the court's Order Affirming the Decision and Order of the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals. CP 2, CABR, page 4, and CP 20, 22, 24

The trial court focused on the testimony of Mr. Suarez's attorney, who was called as an adverse witness by the attorney for Masco Corporation, rather than Exhibit Nos. 8 and 10 admitted before the Board supporting good cause. Commencing at page 4, line 12, the trial court discussed the factors needed to establish good cause in Mr. Suarez's Trial

PETITION FOR REVIEW TO

SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

ALFREDO SUAREZ

and 26.

Brief. Commencing at page 8, line 14, Plaintiff's Trial Brief cited Romo v.

Dep't of Labor & Indus., 92 Wn. App. 348, 356, 962 P.2d 844 (1998), citing

for authority In re Bob Edwards, BIIA Dec., 90 6072 (1992), as the factors

necessary to establish good cause for not attending a medical evaluation.

Whether good cause exists in a given case depends on a number of non-

exclusive factors that require the balancing of the injured worker's interests

in attending a medical evaluation against the self-insured employer's

interests. For the injured worker, one of the factors is the sophistication of

the injured worker.

As to the first factor under *Bob Edwards*, commencing at page 4,

line 12, the trial court stated that there was no testimony as to Mr. Suarez's

education from pages 208-210 in the Certified Appeal Board Record.

Mr. Suarez testified at page 215, lines 14-21:

Q. So what is the extent of your education?

A. First I just studied until half of second grade.

Q. And where was that?

A. In Mexico.

Q. Can you read and write in Spanish?

A. Yes.

//

11

Q. Do you read and write English?

A. No. CP 2, CABR, page 215

Mr. Suarez's attorney did not receive notice of the medical

evaluation with John Thompson, MD, orthopedic surgeon, on November 4,

2014, and Mr. Suarez was not sophisticated enough as only a Spanish

speaking American with a first grade education in Mexico to contact his

attorney to determine whether he should go to the examination. CP 2,

CABR, page 223, line 15.

At page 5, line 1 of the Order, the trial court states that Mr. Suarez

does not point to any part of the record that a hearing was pending before

the Board on employer's appeal of the Department's time loss order to pay

benefits from October 11, 2013, through December 10, 2014, at the time of

the evidentiary hearing. Exhibit Nos. 10 and 12, as previously discussed,

were as much a part of the record as the testimony elicited of Mr. Suarez's

attorney called only as an adverse witness by the employer's attorney, and

they did state the reasons why Mr. Suarez would not attend the medical

evaluation on May 16, 2015. CP 2 and 26, and CABR, pages 245 and 250.

The Court of Appeals in its Unpublished Opinion dated January 19,

2022, Appendix A, initially stated at page two under Facts, "In 2012, while

employed by Masco, Suarez injured his neck and right shoulder."

The Unpublished Opinion at pages 6 through 8, reviewed the Board's consideration of the initial reason why Mr. Suarez did not attend the medical evaluation on May 16, 2015, rather than focusing on Exhibit Nos. 10 and 12, on which Mr. Suarez's case was based to establish good cause not to attend, and why his time loss benefits should not be suspended. CP 2, CABR, pages 245 and 250. In reviewing the trial court's Order from pages 9-12, the Unpublished Opinion again focuses on the initial reason why Mr. Suarez did not attend the fourth medical evaluation, rather than focusing on the exhibits that Mr. Suarez was relying on to avoid assessment of the no show fee and suspension of benefits.

In the Analysis at page 10, the Unpublished Opinion again focuses on the initial reason why Mr. Suarez did not attend the medical evaluation on May 16, 2015, rather than the exhibits showing that Masco had three doctors scheduled to testify before the Board on Masco's appeal of the time loss order, and he did not want a fourth. Under B Requirements under the Industrial Appeals Act, at page 11, the Unpublished Opinion states citing *Romo v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 92 Wn. App. 348, 358, 962 P.2d 844 (1998), "The Department or self-insurer may request an examination to resolve conflicting medical opinions." In *Romo*, the conflicting medical opinion was between a panel of medical examiners and Mr. Romo's attending physician. Here, the conflict is between two of Masco's medical

examiners, which does not justify a fourth medical evaluation on May 16, 2015. Romo v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 92 Wn. App. at 358. At page 12, the Unpublished Opinion cites WAC 296-14-410 (2) stating, "noncooperation is behavior 'which obstructs and/or delays the department or self-insurer from reaching a timely resolution of the claim.' " Here Masco had appealed a Department order awarding time loss which was scheduled for hearing before the Board, and it cannot be said that Mr. Suarez was delaying a timely resolution of the claim.

Again citing *Romo v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 92 Wn. App. at 357, the Unpublished Opinion at page 13 states, "but 'frustration alone' or an unsupported belief that the examinations are 'redundant and unnecessary' is insufficient." Here Mr. Suarez is maintaining that he had good cause not to attend another medical evaluation while Masco's appeal was pending so the employer could not have a fourth doctor testify against his one. Of note at page 13 is the statement quoting *Romo* at page 357, "Balancing the worker's and the department's or self-insurer's interests is the 'fact finder's obligation.' "In this case the fact finder is the board and the trial court, and Mr. Suarez maintains that neither one balanced his interests against the interests of Masco in deciding that Mr. Suarez did not have good cause in not attending the medical evaluation on May 16, 2015.

Under C Failure to Attend the May 2015 Examination, at page 13,

the Unpublished Opinion cites Hendrickson, v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.

2 Wn. App. 2d 343, 351, 409 P.3d 1162 (2018), "but we do not reweigh the

evidence on appeal." Mr. Suarez did not ask the Court of Appeals to

reweigh the evidence, only to balance the interests of Mr. Suarez in not

attending a medical evaluation versus Masco's interests in his attending,

which the board and the trial court did not do. The Unpublished Opinion at

page 14 continues to focus on Mr. Suarez's initial reason stated for not

attending a fourth medical evaluation, rather than the reasons given for not

suspending time loss benefits, Exhibit Nos. 10 and 12. CP 2, CABR, pages

245 and 250. At page 15 of the Unpublished Opinion the statement is made.

"The superior court's legal conclusions flow from the findings," citing

RCW 51.36.070(1)(a). If the Superior Court did not balance the interests in

Mr. Suarez attending the medical evaluation on May 16, 2015, versus the

interests of Masco in his attendance, the legal conclusions do not flow from

the findings.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Since neither the trial court or the board balanced the interests of

Mr. Suarez against the interests of Masco to determine whether the

injured worker had good cause not to attend the medical evaluation on

PETITION FOR REVIEW TO SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON May 15, 2016, there is not substantial evidence to support the decision of the trial court. *Romo v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 92 Wn. App. 348, 357, 962 P.2d 844 (1998).

Romo at page 356 cites with authority a significant decision of the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals, In re Bob Edwards, for the factors necessary to establish good cause for not attending a medical evaluation. either at the request of the Department or the self-insured employer pursuant to RCW 51.32.110(2). Whether good cause exists in a given case will depend on a number of factors that require balancing the interest of the worker in not attending the medical evaluation against the interest of the Department or self-insured employer. Those factors to be considered on behalf of the injured worker are his or her physical capacities, sophistication, circumstances of employment, family responsibilities, proven ability to travel, and other relevant concerns, not the least of which is the expectation of receiving a fair and independent medical evaluation. Among the factors to be considered on behalf of the employer are the need to resolve conflicting medical documentation, the location of willing and qualified physicians, the length of time before a qualified physician is available to perform the examination, and the comparative expense of the examination. Neither of the above list of factors is exhaustive. In re Bob Edwards, BIIA Dec., 90 6072 (1992).

Among the factors to be considered on behalf of Mr. Suarez, what stands out is the sophistication of Mr. Suarez, and the expectation of receiving a fair and independent medical evaluation. Mr. Suarez had a first grade education, did not read or write in English, and testified at hearing through a Spanish interpreter. Mr. Suarez's attorney was not given notice of the medical evaluation with John Thompson, MD, on November 4, 2014, though he had been given notice of the medical evaluations with Dr. Fossier on November 15, 2013, and Dr. Rosenbaum January 30, 2015. CP 2, CABR, pages 303-307. Mr. Suarez was not sophisticated enough as a Spanish speaking American with a limited education before attending the medical evaluation with Dr. Thompson to check with his attorney to see if he had received notice and whether he should attend.

Mr. Suarez, through his attorney, did not have a reasonable expectation of receiving a fair and independent medical evaluation with Dr. Joseph Lynch. Based on at least two prior occasions when Dr. Lynch testified as a medical expert for other employers before the Board, his attorney had found him biased against injured workers. CAP 2, CABR, page 229. The employer's appeal of the Department order to pay time loss benefits from October 11, 2013, through December 10, 2014, was pending hearing before the Board, and his attorney did not want a third orthopedic surgeon to testify against his one medical expert, the treating physician.

Mr. Suarez's attorney did not have reasonable expectation of receiving a

fair and independent medical evaluation with Dr. Lynch. By appealing the

Department order to pay time loss benefits claim resolution was not an

interest of Masco to be considered.

Balancing against the interest of Mr. Suarez not attending the

medical evaluation on May 16, 2015, is the employer's interest on resolving

conflicting medical documentation. Since Dr. Rosenbaum was a

neurosurgeon and not an orthopedic surgeon, he could not render an opinion

on the right shoulder condition. But this stated reason is a fabrication

because Dr. Thompson had already addressed the right shoulder condition,

and attributed it to Mr. Suarez's past history of type 2 diabetes mellitus

rather than the injury of June 27, 2012. Employer's attorney could argue

that the opinion of Dr. Clarence Fossier was contrary to Dr. Thompson, but

at hearing before the Board on the back time loss issue, employer's attorney

flipped Dr. Fossier. Conflicting medical opinion is between an attending

physician and a medical examiner, but not between medical examiners

scheduled by the same employer. Otherwise, afterward a self-insured

employer could continue to schedule medical examiners ad infinitum on

that basis. Romo v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 92 Wn. App. at page 351.

When the interests or reasons of Mr. Suarez in not attending the

medical evaluation on May 16, 2015, are balanced against the interests of

PETITION FOR REVIEW TO SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

15

the employer in attending the evaluation, there are at least two good reasons for not attending and no good reason to attend, and the employer has none. Mr. Suarez has established good cause for not attending the medical evaluation with Dr. Lynch on May 16, 2015. Neither the trial court or the Board would balance the interests of Mr. Suarez in not attending the medical evaluation on May 16, 2015, against the interest of the employer, Masco, and if they had, they would have found that Mr. Suarez had good cause. The finder of fact must balance those interests, before deciding that substantial evidence supports a finding of good cause or the absence of good cause.

The good cause determination is a mixed question of law and fact. The ultimate determination of good cause is a legal conclusion, based on subsidiary findings by the trier of fact. *Romo v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, at page 357, *Garcia v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 86 Wn. App. 748, 939 P.2d 704 (1997). The guiding principle of construing provisions of the Industrial Insurance Act is that the Act is remedial in nature and is to be liberally construed in order to achieve its purpose of providing compensation to all covered employees injured in their employment, with doubts resolved in favor of the worker. *Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Shirley*, 171 Wn. App. 870, 879-880, 228 P.3d 390 (2012), *Dennis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 109 Wn.2d 467, 470, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987), RCW 51.12.010. The subsidiary

findings by the trier of fact would be the balancing of the interest of the

employer versus the interest of the injured worker, which was not done in

this case.

F. CONCLUSION

The Judgment of Superior Court for Clark County dated January 28,

2020, should be reversed and remanded to the Department of Labor and

Industries to vacate the Order and Notice dated March 17, 2017, suspending

Alfredo Suarez's time loss compensation and determine that he had good

cause not to attend the medical evaluation on May 16, 2015.

This document contains 3,797 words, excluding the parts of the

document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.