100655-1

FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/25/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

3/25/2022 9:13 AM COURT OF APPEALS

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON

ALFREDO SUAREZ, Appellant

v.

MASCO CORPORATION, TOPBUILD, Respondent

RESPONSE TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

James L. Gress, WSBA #25731 Brad G. Garber, WSBA # 23108

GRESS CLARK, YOUNG & SCHOEPPER

8705 SW Nimbus Ave, Suite 240

Beaverton, OR 97008

Of Attorneys for Respondent

I. INTRODUCTION

Petitioner (Claimant) appeals an Opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division II, filed on January 19, 2022, affirming the suspension of workers' compensation claim benefits by the Superior Court, which affirmed suspension of benefits by the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals (Board).

II. RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Claimant asserts that the Board, Superior Court, and the Court of Appeals did not balance interests of the parties in affirming suspension of benefits. Aside from the fact that there is no proof in support of this bald and unsupported assertion, substantial evidence supports the unanimous conclusions of all prior tribunals.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent (Employer) accepts and adopts by reference, verbatim, the Facts set out in the Court of Appeals published opinion dated January 19, 2022. (App. A, pp. 2-10).

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Substantial evidence supports the Superior Court's affirmation of the Board's order suspending benefits, as further affirmed by the Court of Appeals. Perhaps more importantly, Claimant raises no basis under RAP 13.4(b) for this Court to accept review of this matter. Review should not be granted, and all relief sought by Petitioner should be denied.

V. ARGUMENT

Pursuant to RAP 13.3(a), this Court exercises discretion in reviewing decisions terminating review. The conditions governing acceptance of review are set out in RAP 13.4(b), as follows:

"A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court."

In this case, Claimant has failed to establish that any of the criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b) are satisfied and compel review of the Court of Appeals decision of January 19, 2022, and review should be summarily denied.

The standard of this Court's review of the Superior Court's Order of October 22, 2021, is found in RCW 51.52.140. Pursuant to that statute, the appellate courts only review "whether substantial evidence supports the trial court's factual findings and then review, *de novo*, whether the trial court's conclusions of law flow from the findings." *See Rogers v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 151 Wn.App. 174, 179, 210 P.3d 355 (2009) (quoting *Watson v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 133 Wn. App. 903, 909, 138 P.3d 177 (2006). "Substantial evidence" is evidence "sufficient to persuade a rational fair-minded person that the finding is true." *Cantu v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 168 Wn. App. 14, 21, 277 P.3d 685 (2012); *Potter v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 172 Wn. App. 301, 310, 289 P.3d 727 (2012). This Court does not substitute its "judgment for that of the trial court," "weigh the evidence or the credibility of witnesses," or apply a new burden of persuasion. *Davis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 94 Wn.2d 119, 124, 615 P.2d 1279 (1980); *Rogers*, 151 Wn. App. at 180-81. This Court, as the Court of Appeals, reviews the record in the light most favorable to the party who prevailed in Superior Court. *Harrison, Mem'l Hosp. v. Gagnon*, 110 Wn. App. 475, 485, 40 P.3d 1221 (2002).

It is Claimant's repeated assertion that all tribunals involved in the litigation of this matter did not balance the interests of the parties in affirming a Department of Labor & Industries order suspending Claimant's benefits after failing to attend a medical examination at the direction of his legal counsel. That assertion assumes that no one paid attention to the evidence, and it essentially invites this Court to reexamine the evidence that was presented to the Board, the Superior Court, and the Court of Appeals. This assumes quite a bit and is unsupported by even a scintilla of evidence. Ultimately, it is not within this Court's purview to revisit the evidence.

RCW 51.32.110(1) provides, in part, "As required by RCW 51.36.070, any worker entitled to receive any benefits or claiming such under this title shall, if requested by the Department or self-insurer, submit himself or herself for medical examination, at a place reasonably convenient for the worker." RCW 51.32.110(2) continues, in part, "If the worker refuses to submit to medical examination, or obstructs the same, or, if any injured worker shall persist in unsanitary or injurious practices which tend to imperil or retard his or her recovery, or shall refuse to submit to such medical or surgical treatment as is reasonably essential to his or her recovery or refuse or obstruct evaluation or examination for the purpose of vocational rehabilitation or does not cooperate in reasonable efforts at such rehabilitation, the Department or the self-insurer upon approval by the Department, with notice to the worker may suspend any further action on any claim of such worker so long as such refusal, obstruction, noncooperation, or practice continues and reduce, suspend, or deny any compensation for such period...." Suspension is not allowed if the injured worker can show "good cause" for refusing to submit to, or obstruct any scheduled examination, evaluation, treatment or practice. In the case at bar, Claimant has not shown good cause for failing to attend the IME scheduled with Dr. Lynch in

May 2015. His only reason for not attending is that his attorney felt that the IME was scheduled too soon (within a 4-month period) from the preceding examination.

Generally, decisions of the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals are nonbinding but considered persuasive authority for the Court. *See O'Keefe v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 126 Wn. App. 760, 766, 109 P.3d 484 (2005). *See, also, Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Tri*, 117 Wn.2d 128, 138, 814 P.2d 629 (1991) ("While the Board's interpretation of the Act is not binding upon this Court, it is entitled to great deference.").

The Board's Decision and Order, in *In re Bob Edwards*, BIIA Dec., 90 6072 (1992) is instructive. In that case, the claimant complained that it was neither fair nor reasonable for him to attend an independent examination scheduled by the Department of Labor & Industries. He argued that the Department and employer already had medical documentation from previous examinations that address the issue at hand and that an additional examination was unnecessary. Additionally, he claimed that the examination was expected to result in a report that would be unfavorable to his position and would, therefore, "stack the deck" in the employer's favor. These were the reasons for his failure to attend the scheduled independent medical examination.

Similarly, in the case at bar, Claimant's counsel admits that his client "did not have a reasonable expectation of receiving a fair and independent medical evaluation with Dr. Joseph Lynch." (Claimant's Petition at 14). This was part of the reason Claimant's counsel advised him to not attend the IME. The other part was that Claimant's counsel simply felt that there were too many examinations, too close together. CBR at 229. In *Edwards*, the Board did not consider these excuses persuasive. Neither did the Court of Appeals in this case.

As noted in Olympia Brewing Co. v. Dep't Labor & Indus., 34 Wn.2d 498, 505, 208 P.2d 1181 (1949), overruled on other grounds, Windust v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 52 Wn.2d 33, 323

P.2d 241 (1958), an injured worker who fails to attend a scheduled independent medical examination bears the burden of showing, by a preponderance of evidence, that he or she had good cause for not submitting to the examination. It is not up to the Department or self-insured employer to show "good cause" for scheduling the examination.

The reason for the scheduling of the IME by Dr. Lynch was that there was competing medical information regarding the cause of Claimant's right shoulder condition. Claimant was examined by Dr. Fossier, an orthopedic surgeon, who opined that Claimant's right shoulder condition was "causally related to the industrial injury on a more-probable-than-not basis." CBR at 318. A subsequent orthopedic surgeon, Dr. Thompson, examined Claimant and reported that Claimant's "frozen shoulder" (adhesive capsulitis) was not related to his industrial injury. Claimant was subsequently examined by Dr. Rosenbaum, a neurosurgeon, who reported that he would need to defer to orthopedic assessment of Claimant's right shoulder condition. CABR 326-27. Thus, to overcome the conflict between orthopedic assessments, the IME was scheduled with orthopedic surgeon Dr. Lynch.

RCW 51.36.070(1)(a) provides, in part, as follows: "Whenever the Department or self-insurer deems it necessary in order to (i) make a decision regarding claim allowance or reopening, (ii) resolve a new medical issue, an appeal, or case progress, or (iii) evaluate the worker's permanent disability or work restriction, a worker shall submit to examination by a physician or physicians selected by the Department, with the rendition of a report to the person ordering the examination, the attending physician, and the injured worker."

Simply, in this case, the self-insurer deemed it necessary to obtain additional information to resolve an ambiguity in the medical evidence that would affect new condition claim allowance and case processing progress. It was acting well within the law to arrange for Dr. Lynch's

orthopedic assessment; Claimant, for no good cause, and on the advice of his legal counsel, decided to ignore the law.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed above and in the decision of the Court of Appeals, the Superior Court's decision should be affirmed, and all relief requested by Claimant denied.

This document contains 1,947 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.

James L. Gress, WSBA #25731 Brad G. Garber, WSBA #23108

GRESS CLARK, YOUNG & SCHOEPPER

8705 SW Nimbus Ave, Suite 240

Beaverton, OR 97008

Of Attorneys for Respondent

Page 1 – CERTIFICATE OF MAILING

1

Gress, Clark, Young & Schoepper 8705 SW Nimbus Avenue, Suite #240 Beaverton, OR 97008

Byrne, Derek, Clerk/Administrator 909 A Street, Suite 200 Tacoma, WA 98402

by e-filing it on: March 24, 2022.

GRESS, CLARK, YOUNG & SCHOEPPER

JAMES L. GRESS/WSBA #25731 BRAD G. GARBER, WSBA #23108 Of Attorneys for Respondent

Page 2 – CERTIFICATE OF MAILING

Gress, Clark, Young & Schoepper 8705 SW Nimbus Avenue, Suite #240 Beaverton, OR 97008

GRESS, CLARK, YOUNG & SCHOEPPER

March 25, 2022 - 9:13 AM

Transmittal Information

Filed with Court: Court of Appeals Division II

Appellate Court Case Number: 55377-5

Appellate Court Case Title: Alfredo Suarez, Appellant v. Masco Corporation et al., Respondents

Superior Court Case Number: 19-2-02768-5

The following documents have been uploaded:

• 553775_Answer_Reply_to_Motion_20220325091225D2996991_7339.pdf

This File Contains:

Answer/Reply to Motion - Response

The Original File Name was 20220325090533266.pdf

A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

- anastasia.sandstrom@atg.wa.gov
- ashleys@busicklaw.com
- judyg@atg.wa.gov
- sbusick@busicklaw.com

Comments:

Sender Name: Jennifer DeOgny - Email: jennifer@gressandclarklaw.com

Filing on Behalf of: James L Gress - Email: jim@gressandclarklaw.com (Alternate Email:)

Address:

8705 SW Nimbus Avenue, Suite 240

Beaverton, OR, 97008 Phone: (971) 285-3525